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(I) 

QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

 During a bank robbery, petitioner carried an AK-47 rifle 

that was equipped with two handles and a 75-round circular drum 

magazine, had a selector switch that allowed it to switch from 

safe to semi-automatic to fully automatic mode, and was capable 

of operating in a fully automatic mode.  Petitioner was 

convicted under 18 U.S.C. 924(c)(1)(A)(i) and (B)(ii), which 

makes it a crime to use or carry a machinegun during and in 

relation to a crime of violence.  The question presented is 

whether Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) requires the government to 

prove that the defendant knew that the firearm in question was a 

machinegun. 
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OPINIONS BELOW 

 The opinion of the en banc court of appeals (Pet. App. 1a-

104a) is reported at 690 F.3d 500.  The opinion of a panel of 

the court of appeals (Pet. App. 108a-122a) is reported at 642 

F.3d 1062. 

JURISDICTION 

 The judgment of the court of appeals was entered on August 

3, 2012.  The petition for a writ of certiorari was filed on 

November 1, 2012.  The jurisdiction of this Court is invoked 

under 28 U.S.C. 1254(1).   
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STATEMENT 

  Following a jury trial in the United States District Court 

for the District of Columbia, petitioner was convicted of 

conspiracy to violate the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt 

Organizations Act (RICO), in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1962(d); 

conspiracy to commit armed bank robbery, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. 371; armed bank robbery, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

2113(a); and using and carrying a machinegun during and in 

relation to a bank robbery, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

924(c)(1)(A)(i) and (B)(ii).   Pet. App. 4a, 124a.  The district 

court sentenced petitioner to 495 months of imprisonment, to be 

followed by five years of supervised release.  Id. at 4a, 125a-

126a.  A panel of the court of appeals affirmed.  Id. at 108a-

122a.  The court of appeals granted rehearing en banc to 

consider petitioner’s Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) conviction and 

affirmed.  Id. at 1a-104a. 

1. Between January and June 2004, a violent “crew” 

committed six armed bank robberies in the Washington, D.C., 

area.  Pet. App. 3a, Gov’t En Banc Br. 4-6.  After the first two 

robberies, the crew obtained four fully automatic AK-47 rifles, 

which it used in its next four robberies.  Id. at 5-6.  Each 

AK-47 had an automatic selector switch -- a visible side lever 

that allowed it to switch from safe to semi-automatic to fully 

automatic mode.  Pet. App. 4a; Gov’t En Banc Br. 6-7.  During 
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the third robbery, the crew members fired three of the AK-47s in 

fully automatic mode, spraying bullets at a pursuing police car.  

Pet. App. 3a, Gov’t C.A. Br. 7-8. 

Following that robbery, petitioner, who had previously 

assisted the crew in an armed carjacking, asked to participate 

in future bank robberies.  Pet. App. 3a, 35a n.3.  He joined the 

crew in the fourth and fifth robberies, carrying an AK-47 both 

times.  Id. at 3a, Gov’t En Banc Br. 8.  In the fifth robbery, 

which took place at the Industrial Bank at 2012 Rhode Island 

Avenue, N.E., petitioner carried an AK-47 with two handles and a 

75-round circular drum magazine.  Id. at 5, 8.  After the crew 

was arrested, police located a recent issue of “Guns ‘N Stuff” 

magazine bearing petitioner’s fingerprints stored next to 

firearms and other equipment used in the robberies.  Id. at 8-9.  

2. On February 15, 2005, a grand jury in the District of 

Columbia returned a 20-count superseding indictment charging 

petitioner with RICO conspiracy, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

1962(d); conspiracy to commit armed bank robbery, in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. 371; and armed bank robbery, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. 2113(a).  In addition, Count 11 of the superseding 

indictment charged petitioner with using and carrying a 

machinegun during and in relation to the Industrial Bank 

robbery, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 924(c)(1)(A)(i) and (B)(ii).  

Section 924(c)(1)(A) makes it a crime to use or carry a firearm 
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during and in relation to, or to possess a firearm in 

furtherance of, a crime of violence or drug trafficking crime.  

A person who violates that provision must “be sentenced to a 

term of imprisonment of not less than 5 years.”  18 U.S.C. 

924(c)(1)(A)(i).  Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) in turn defines an 

aggravated version of that offense with a greater minimum 

penalty:  If the firearm in question “is a machinegun,” then the 

defendant must “be sentenced to a term of imprisonment of not 

less than 30 years.”  See United States v. O’Brien, 130 S. Ct. 

2169 (2010).  A machinegun (also known as an “automatic” weapon) 

“fires repeatedly with a single pull of the trigger.”  Staples 

v. United States, 511 U.S. 600, 602 n.1 (1994); see 18 U.S.C. 

921(a)(23), 26 U.S.C. 5845(b). 

Beginning on April 18, 2005, petitioner and five co-

defendants proceeded to a jury trial.  In June 2005, the 

government moved the district court to preclude the defendants 

from arguing in closing that 18 U.S.C. 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) requires 

proof that the defendant knew that the firearm was an automatic 

weapon.  United States v. Morrow, 04-cr-355 Docket entry Nos. 

417, 428 (D.D.C. June 17, 2005; June 20, 2005).  After the 

district court invited defense counsel to respond, 6/17/05 Tr. 

7713-7716, one of petitioner’s co-defendants opposed the motion.  

On June 19, 2005, the district court granted the government’s 

motion, “exclud[ing] Defendants from arguing that 18 U.S.C. 
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§ 924(c)(1) contains a mens rea requirement as to the precise 

type of weapon used or carried in their closing arguments.”  

Morrow, 04-cr-355 Docket entry No. 427 (D.D.C.); see Morrow, No. 

04-cr-355, 2005 WL 3163804 (D.D.C. June 20, 2005) (Memorandum 

Opinion).  During the jury instruction conference, which began 

on June 16, 2005, 6/16/05 Tr. 7499, no defendant asked that the 

jury be instructed that a conviction under Section 

924(c)(1)(B)(ii) required proof of his knowledge of the type of 

firearm he used or carried.  Nor did any defendant object to the 

district court’s Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) instructions on such a 

basis. 

The jury found petitioner guilty on all counts, including 

Count 11, which charged him with using and carrying a machinegun 

during the Industrial Bank robbery.  The district court 

sentenced petitioner to 495 months of imprisonment, which 

included a term of 360 months of imprisonment on the Section 

924(c)(1)(B)(ii) charge, which ran consecutively to petitioner’s 

other terms of imprisonment.  Pet. App. 125a-126a. 

3. A panel of the court of appeals affirmed.  Pet. App. 

108a-122a.  Petitioner argued for the first time on appeal that 

insufficient evidence supported his Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) 

conviction because, inter alia, “[t]he government presented no 

evidence from which jurors could find that [petitioner] was 

aware the weapon he carried was automatic.”  Pet. C.A. Br. 85.  
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The court of appeals rejected that claim, relying on its 

decision in  United States v. Harris, 959 F.2d 246, 257-259 

(D.C. Cir.) (per curiam), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 932 (1992), 

which interpreted the predecessor to Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) 

not to require proof that the defendant knew that the firearm he 

possessed was a machinegun.  Pet. App. 119a.  The panel 

disagreed with petitioner’s contentions that Harris had been 

undermined by Staples, supra (interpreting 26 U.S.C. 5861(d) to 

require for conviction proof of the defendant’s knowledge that 

an unregistered firearm is a machinegun), and  O’Brien, 130 S. 

Ct. at 2172, 2180 (holding that the fact that the firearm is a 

machinegun is an element of an aggravated offense under Section 

924(c)(1)(B)(ii), rather than a factor relevant to sentencing 

for an offense under 18 U.S.C. 924(c)(1)(A)).  Pet. App. 119-

121a. 

4. The court of appeals reheard petitioner’s appeal en 

banc “limited to the question of mens rea regarding 18 U.S.C. 

§ 924(c).”  Pet. App. 106a.  It ultimately reinstated the panel 

opinion and affirmed petitioner’s Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) 

conviction.  Id. at 1a-104a.  

a. The en banc court found no reason to deviate from its 

Harris decision.  First, it found that this Court’s decision in 

O’Brien, supra, which held that the possession of a machinegun 

was an element of a Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) offense, did not 
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clearly undermine Harris, which turned on principles of 

statutory construction rather than on a distinction between 

sentencing factors and elements of the offense.  Pet. App. 7a-

8a.  Nor, the en banc court concluded, could it be assumed that 

“offense elements require proof of mens rea,” and thus that 

O’Brien had overruled Harris implicitly.  Id. at 8a.  The en 

banc court noted that O’Brien “declined to decide whether ‘a 

defendant who uses, carries, or possesses a firearm must be 

aware of the weapon’s characteristics,’” which suggested that a 

distinction between sentencing factors and offense elements was 

not controlling on the question of the mens rea attaching to the 

“machinegun” element.  Id. at 9a (quoting 130 S. Ct. at 2173). 

Next, the en banc court concluded that no presumption in 

favor of mens rea properly applied to Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii).   

Pet. App. 9a-15a.  The court explained that such a presumption 

had been adopted in other contexts to avoid criminalizing 

otherwise lawful and apparently innocent conduct.  Id. at 9a. 

But “Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) poses no danger of ensnaring ‘an 

altar boy [who made] an innocent mistake’ because the government 

must first prove the defendant is guilty of either drug 

trafficking or a violent crime, and must further prove that the 

defendant intentionally used or carried a firearm, or 

intentionally possessed a firearm, during or in furtherance of 

that offense.”  Id. at 11a-12a (brackets in original; citation 
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omitted) (quoting Harris, 959 F.2d at 259).  Accordingly, the en 

banc court reasoned, “no risk of unfairness [exists] because the 

defendant ‘knows from the very outset that his planned course of 

conduct is wrongful[,]’” id. at 12a (quoting United States v. 

Feola, 420 U.S. 671, 685 (1975)), and it is not “unusual to 

punish individuals for the unintended consequences of their 

unlawful acts.”  Id. at 13a (emphasis in original) (citing 

examples).  Nor, given the difficulty of proving “an implicit, 

subjective mens rea requirement,” did the en banc court find it 

plausible to believe that Congress intended to impose such a 

burden on the government in adopting Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii).  

Id. at 16a. 

The en banc court noted that no other circuit court had 

rejected Harris or even considered its analysis.  Pet. App. 19a-

20a (citing United States v. Franklin, 321 F.3d 1231, 1240 (9th 

Cir.), cert. denied, 540 U.S. 858 (2003); United States v. 

Rodriguez, 54 Fed. Appx. 739, 747 (3d Cir. 2002), cert. denied, 

537 U.S. 1179 (2003), and United States v. Dixon, 273 F.3d 636, 

640-641 (5th Cir. 2001), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 829 (2002)).  

The en banc court acknowledged that some other courts may have 

implied that they would reject Harris if forced to decide the 

issue, but it found the possibility of a future circuit split 

insufficient to justify overruling its precedent.  Id. at 20a-

21a. 
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Finally, the en banc court concluded that Harris was 

correctly decided.  Pet. App. 21-27a.  It noted that Section 

924(c)(1)(B)(ii) contains no explicit mens rea requirement even 

though related provisions do contain such a requirement, 

suggesting that Congress deliberately chose to omit any 

additional mens rea requirement from Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii).  

Id. at 21a (addressing the “brandishing” provision of 18 U.S.C. 

924(c)(1)(A)(ii), which requires proof that the firearm was 

“display[ed]  .  .  .  in order to intimidate”) (quoting 18 

U.S.C. 924(c)(4)).  And it rejected the “sweeping proposition” 

that “mens rea must apply to every element of the offense, 

unless Congress clearly indicates otherwise.”  Id. at 22a.  The 

court further explained that a mens rea requirement would not 

serve to deter the use of machine guns because “the deterrent 

value of the statute arises out of its capacity to deter future 

offenders,” who may carefully inspect any weapon to avoid the 

additional sentence Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) prescribes.  Id. at 

24a.  The en banc court also rejected the argument that the 

severity of the minimum punishment should be considered in 

determining what proof of mens rea is required because, in the 

situation here, the defendant has engaged in obviously unlawful 

conduct.  Id. at 25a-26a. 

Because the court rejected petitioner’s interpretation of 

Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii), it did not reach petitioner’s claim 
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that the evidence was insufficient to demonstrate his knowledge 

of the AK-47’s automatic capability.  Pet. App. 27a. 

b. Judge Sentelle concurred in the en banc court’s 

opinion based on stare decisis considerations, while agreeing 

with Judge Henderson that en banc review had been improvidently 

granted.   Pet. App. 31a-32a. 

c. Judge Henderson concurred in the en banc court’s 

opinion but objected to en banc review as “egregiously 

inappropriate.”  Pet. App. 36a; see id. at 33a-36a.  She noted 

that, because petitioner had failed to request an appropriate 

jury instruction in the district court, any challenge to the 

district court’s instructions could be reviewed for “plain 

error” only.  Id. at 33a-34a, see Fed. R. Crim. P. 52(b).  She 

explained that because existing precedents failed to support 

petitioner’s argument and “overwhelming evidence” showed that he 

was aware that he had carried an automatic weapon, petitioner 

could not meet the plain-error standard.  Pet. App. 34a-36a. 

d. Judge Rogers dissented.  Pet. App. 37a-52a.  After 

suggesting that Harris, supra, had been undermined by dicta in 

O’Brien, supra, and Castillo v. United States, 530 U.S. 120, 126 

(2000), which she interpreted to mean that “carrying a 

machinegun involves heightened culpability,” Pet. App. 37a, she 

concluded that the severity of the sentence prescribed by 

Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) demanded that it be read to require 
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proof of the defendant’s knowledge that the firearm was a 

machinegun.  Pet. App. 38a-52a; see id. at 49a (arguing that the 

length of the punishment imposed is “an independent 

consideration” that should bear on the determination of whether 

mens rea should be presumed). 

e. Judge Kavanaugh dissented in an opinion joined by 

Judge Tatel.  Pet. App. 53a-103a.  Judge Kavanaugh concluded 

that a jury instruction challenge had been preserved when the 

district court granted the government’s motion to limit the 

defendants’ closing arguments.  Pet. App. 90a n.21.    

On the merits, Judge Kavanaugh opined that, “unless 

Congress plainly indicates otherwise, the Government must prove 

the defendant’s mens rea for each element of the offense.”  Pet. 

App. 54a; see id. at 57a-72a (reviewing Supreme Court case law 

applying a mens rea presumption).  Judge Kavanaugh concluded 

that because the fact that the firearm is a machinegun is an 

element of the Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) offense, the government 

must prove the defendant’s knowledge of that fact.  Id. at 73a-

79a.  Judge Kavanaugh acknowledged that the presumption of mens 

rea is subject to exceptions, but he found none of those 

applicable.  Id. at 72a n.10.  Moreover, Judge Kavanaugh 

rejected the en banc court’s conclusion that the presumption of 

mens rea applies only when necessary to avoid criminalizing 

apparently innocent conduct.  Id. at 82a-83a, see id. at 84a-
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89a.  In his view, “[w]hen the facts as the defendant believed 

them would have warranted conviction of a lesser offense and 

called for a lesser punishment, no legitimate purpose of 

criminal law  *  *  *  is served by convicting him of an 

aggravated offense and imposing a more severe punishment.”  Id. 

at 85a.  Finding that the presumption of mens rea applied and 

had not been overcome, id. at 90a-97a, and that the district 

jury instructions were deficient, Judge Kavanaugh concluded that 

petitioner’s Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) conviction should be 

vacated.  Id. at 103a. 

ARGUMENT 

Petitioner contends that a conviction under Section 

924(c)(1)(B)(ii) requires proof of the defendant’s knowledge 

that the firearm involved was a machinegun (i.e., could fire 

automatically).  Pet. i, 7-13; see Amicus Br. 2-12.  The 

decision of the court of appeals is correct and does not 

conflict with a decision of this Court or of any other court  of 

appeals.  In any event, this case would not be a suitable 

vehicle for addressing the issue because petitioner failed to 

raise his claim in the district court, and he cannot establish 

reversible plain error.  Further review is not warranted. 

1. The court of appeals’ decision is correct. 

a. Section 924(c)(1) of Title 18 of the United States 

Code provides in relevant part: 
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(A)  *  *  *  [A]ny person who, during and in relation 
to any crime of violence or drug trafficking crime[,] 
*  *  *  uses or carries a firearm, or who, in 
furtherance of any such crime, possesses a firearm, 
shall, in addition to the punishment provided for such 
crime of violence or drug trafficking crime -- 
 

(i) be sentenced to a term of imprisonment of not 
less than 5 years; 
 
(ii) if the firearm is brandished, be sentenced 
to a term of imprisonment of not less than 7 
years; and 
 
(iii) if the firearm is discharged, be sentenced 
to a term of imprisonment of not less than 10 
years. 
 

(B) If the firearm possessed by a person convicted of 
a violation of this subsection --  
 

(i) is a short-barreled rifle, short-barreled 
shotgun, or semiautomatic assault weapon, the 
person shall be sentenced to a term of 
imprisonment of not less than 10 years; or 
 
(ii) is a machinegun or a destructive device, or 
is equipped with a firearm silencer or firearm 
muffler, the person shall be sentenced to a term 
of imprisonment of not less than 30 years. 
 

Whether Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) requires proof that the 

defendant knew the firearm in question was a machinegun is a 

question of statutory construction.  Staples v. United States, 

511 U.S. 600, 604 (1994).  The “starting place [of the] inquiry” 

is “[t]he language of the statute.”  Id. at 605.  Section 

924(c)(1)(B)(ii) provides that a defendant shall be sentenced to 

a minimum of 30 years of imprisonment “[i]f the firearm 

possessed  *  *  *  is a machinegun.”  That language does not 
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require that the defendant have “knowingly” used, carried or 

possessed a machinegun, and this Court “ordinarily resist[s] 

reading words or elements into a statute that do not appear on 

its face.”  Dean v. United States, 556 U.S. 568, 572 (2009) 

(quoting Bates v. United States, 522 U.S. 23, 29 (1997)). 

 Congress’s use of the passive voice (“[i]f the firearm 

possessed  *  *  *  is a machinegun”) also indicates that 

subparagraph (B)(ii) does not require proof of mens rea.  As 

Dean explained in holding that Section 924(c)(1)(A)(iii)’s 

enhanced sentence when the firearm in question is discharged 

does not require proof that the defendant intended to discharge 

the weapon, “[t]he passive voice focuses on an event that occurs 

without respect to a specific actor, and therefore without 

respect to any actor’s intent or culpability.  *  *  *  It is 

whether something happened -- not how or why it happened -- that 

matters.”  556 U.S. at 572. 

The structure of the statute also suggests that Section 

924(c)(1)(B)(ii) does not require knowledge of the firearm’s 

status as a machinegun.  Unlike Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii), other 

provisions of Section 924(c)(1) include an explicit mens rea 

requirement.  As this Court noted in Dean, Congress defined the 

provision that enhances the penalty for “brandishing” a firearm 

to include a mens rea requirement -- to “brandish” means “to 

display * * * in order to intimidate,” 18 U.S.C. 
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924(c)(1)(A)(ii) and (4) -- but “did not  *  *  *  separately 

define ‘discharge’ to include an intent requirement.”  556 U.S. 

at 572-573.  As the Court explained, “[w]here Congress includes 

particular language in one section of a statute but omits it in 

another section of the same Act, it is generally presumed that 

Congress acts intentionally and purposely in the disparate 

inclusion and exclusion.”  Id. at 573 (quoting Russello v. 

United States, 464 U.S. 16, 23 (1983)). 

b. Neither petitioner nor his amicus significantly 

address the statutory text or structure.  They rely instead on 

what they characterize as a traditional presumption that 

criminal statutes include a mens rea requirement, arguing that 

that general presumption requires this Court to infer that 

Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) in particular requires proof of the 

defendant’s knowledge that the firearm in question was a 

machinegun.  Pet. 11-12; Amicus Br. 8-10.  That argument is 

misplaced because the presumption at issue does not apply to the 

“machinegun” element, which serves to distinguish an aggravated 

offense from the basic Section 924(c)(1) offense. 

As the en banc court below recognized, the presumption in 

favor of mens rea is designed “to avoid criminalizing otherwise 

lawful conduct.”  Pet. App. 9a-10a (discussing United States v. 

United States Gypsum Co., 438 U.S. 422 (1978), Staples, supra, 

and United States v. X-Citement Video, Inc., 513 U.S. 64 
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(1994)); see also Carter v. United States, 530 U.S. 255, 269-270 

(2000) (“The presumption in favor of scienter requires a court 

to read into a statute only that mens rea which is necessary to 

separate wrongful conduct from otherwise innocent conduct.”) 

(internal quotation marks and citation omitted); X-Citement 

Video, 513 U.S. at 72-73 (recognizing that presumption does not 

apply to each element of a criminal offense, but to “each of the 

statutory elements that criminalize otherwise innocent 

conduct”).  

No such concern arises with respect to Section 

924(c)(1)(B)(ii).  In any prosecution under Section 924(c)(1), 

the government must prove, inter alia, that (1) the defendant 

committed a drug trafficking crime or a violent crime (either of 

which will have one or more mens rea requirements) and (2) the 

defendant intended to possess a firearm in connection with that 

offense.  Such a defendant unquestionably “knows from the very 

outset that his planned course of conduct is wrongful.”  Pet. 

App. 12a (quoting United States v. Feola, 420 U.S. 671, 685 

(1975)); see id. at 25a; see also Dean, 556 U.S. at 576 (“Here 

the defendant is already guilty of unlawful conduct twice 

over.”).  In turn, a mens rea requirement for facts that 

aggravate the basic offense, such as the “machinegun” element in 

Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii), is not necessary to avoid punishing 

otherwise innocent conduct. 
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That result accords with this Court’s recognition in 

closely related contexts that harsher punishments may be imposed 

on individuals for the unintended aggravated consequences of 

their clearly unlawful acts.  For example, in holding that 

Section 924(c)(1)(A)(iii)’s discharge provision applies to a 

defendant whose gun is discharged accidentally, Dean observed: 

It is unusual to impose criminal punishment for the 
consequences of purely accidental conduct.  But it is 
not unusual to punish individuals for the unintended 
consequences of their unlawful acts.  *  *  *  The 
felony-murder rule is a familiar example:  If a 
defendant commits an unintended homicide while 
committing another felony, the defendant can be 
convicted of murder. 
 

556 U.S. at 575 (emphasis in original).  See also X-Citement 

Video, 513 U.S. at 72 n.3 (“Criminal intent serves to separate 

those who understand the wrongful nature of their act from those 

who do not, but does not require knowledge of the precise 

consequences that may flow from that act once aware that the act 

is wrongful.”).  As Dean explained, “[t]he fact that the actual 

discharge  *  *  *  may be accidental does not mean that the 

defendant is blameless” and the increased minimum sentence 

required by Section 924(c)(1)(A)(iii) “accounts for the risk of 

harm resulting from the manner in which the crime is carried 

out, for which the defendant is responsible.”  556 U.S. at 576.  

Likewise here, a defendant who operates unaware of his 

machinegun’s awesome potential for destruction and mayhem is 
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anything but “blameless” and surely runs an increased “risk of 

harm resulting from the manner in which [his] crime is carried 

out.”  Ibid. 

 Petitioner’s amicus suggests (Br. 17-19) that principles of 

deterrence require that a Section 924(c) defendant have weapon-

specific knowledge.  But if the statute limited convictions to 

those defendants with knowledge that the firearm in question was 

a machinegun, offenders would have greatly reduced incentives to 

apprise themselves of the nature of their weapons.  A person who 

wishes to avoid the penalty for inadvertent use of a machinegun 

can ascertain the nature of his weapons and leave any 

machineguns behind, “or -- best yet -- avoid committing the 

felony in the first place.”  Dean, 556 U.S. at 576. 

The result below accords with the interpretation of 

numerous criminal offenses that require mens rea as to some 

elements of an offense but not for additional facts that 

aggravate the offense by enhancing punishment.  See Pet. App. 

14a-15a (citing, inter alia, 21 U.S.C. 841, which does not 

require proof of the defendant’s knowledge of the particular 

type or quantity of a controlled substance, which enhances the 

punishment and must be found by the jury to authorize a sentence 

above the otherwise-authorized maximum; 18 U.S.C. 2241(c), 18 

U.S.C. 2423 and 21 U.S.C. 861, which criminalize acts involving 

juveniles but do not require proof of mens rea with respect to 
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the juvenile’s age; 18 U.S.C. 2113, which defines different bank 

robbery offenses based on the value of the property stolen, but 

does not require proof that the defendant knew the monetary 

value); see also Feola, 420 U.S. at 684 (“[I]n order to 

effectuate the congressional purpose of according maximum 

protection to federal officers by making prosecution for 

assaults upon them cognizable in the federal courts, [18 U.S.C. 

111] cannot be construed as embodying an unexpressed requirement 

that an assailant be aware that his victim is a federal 

officer.”).1 

2. The decision below does not conflict with any decision 

of this Court. 

a. Petitioner and his amicus contend that the decision 

below conflicts with United States v. O’Brien, 130 S. Ct. 2169 

(2010), which held that Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii)’s machinegun 

requirement is an element of an aggravated offense that must be 

                     
1 Petitioner asserts that under the D.C. Circuit’s 

interpretation, “a co-conspirator who provided some material 
assistance but was not present at the crime could be convicted 
under [Section] 924(c)(1)(B)(ii), even if he had no way of 
knowing that his co-conspirator would take a machinegun to the 
crime.”  Pet. 12.  The court of appeals did not so hold; indeed, 
it reserved the question, explaining that under the vicarious 
liability doctrine of Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640, 
647-648 (1946), “it is not clear (and we express no opinion as 
to) whether liability would attach to co-conspirators who could 
not reasonably foresee the use of the machinegun.”  Pet. App. 
26a-27a. 
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charged in the indictment and proved to the jury beyond a 

reasonable doubt, id. at 2172, 2180.  Pet. 7-10; Amicus Br. 4-8.  

As petitioner concedes (Pet. 1, 7), O’Brien explicitly left open 

the question here presented.  See 130 S. Ct. at 2173 (“This 

opinion expresses no views” as to “any contention that a 

defendant who uses, carries, or possesses a firearm must be 

aware of the weapon=s characteristics.”); see United States v. 

Haile, 685 F.3d 1211, 1218 (11th Cir. 2012) (per curiam) 

(“O’Brien did not hold that a defendant’s knowledge that a 

firearm is a machine gun must also [be proved].”), petitions for 

cert. pending, Nos. 12-673, 12-7723 (filed Nov. 20, 2012; Nov. 

21, 2012). 

Petitioner and his amicus nonetheless contend that because 

O’Brien suggests that carrying a machinegun involves heightened 

culpability, that case establishes that a conviction under 

Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) requires proof that the defendant knew 

the firearm in question was a machinegun.  In O’Brien, this 

Court pointed to “[t]he immense danger posed by machineguns 

[and] the moral depravity in choosing the weapon,” as one of 

several factors supporting its conclusion that Congress intended 

Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) to set forth elements of a separate 

offense.  130 S. Ct. at 2178.  Petitioner does not explain how 

those broad observations would control over the specific terms 

of the statute.  Nor does it not follow from those observations 
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that every prosecution under Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) requires 

proof that the defendant knew the weapon was capable of firing 

automatically:  A machinegun presents an “immense danger” even 

in the hands -- indeed, especially in the hands -- of one who 

does not know it will fire automatically.  And the “moral 

depravity” of one who would thoughtlessly carry a weapon of such 

vast destructive potential during a violent crime is perhaps 

different in kind, but not necessarily in degree, from the moral 

depravity of one who does so knowingly.  See Pet. App. 24a 

(noting that the statute’s deterrent value arises in part from 

encouraging would-be offenders to know the characteristics of 

their weapons and eschew the more dangerous types). 

In any event, the suggestion that Section 924(c)(1)’s 

heightened penalties must correspond to additional mens rea 

requirements directly conflicts with Dean’s holding that the 

sentencing enhancement that Section 924(c)(1)(A)(iii) imposes 

when a firearm is discharged “requires no separate proof of 

intent.”  556 U.S. at 577.  This Court specifically rejected 

Dean’s argument that the three subparagraphs of Section 

924(c)(1)(A) were “intended to provide harsher penalties for 

increasingly culpable conduct,” concluding instead that Congress 

intended the discharge provision to “account[] for the risk of 

harm resulting from the manner in which the crime is carried 
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out, for which the defendant is responsible.”  Id. at 575-576 

(emphasis added). 

b. Contrary to Judge Kavanaugh’s suggestion in dissent 

below (Pet. App. 67a-68a), the en banc court’s decision is 

consistent with Staples, supra.  Staples announced the “narrow” 

holding that, to obtain a conviction under 26 U.S.C. 5861(d) -- 

which makes it unlawful to “receive or possess a [machinegun] 

which is not [federally] registered” -- the government must 

prove that the defendant knew the weapon he possessed was 

capable of automatic firing.  511 U.S. at 602, 605, 619.  This 

Court reasoned that, given the “long tradition of widespread 

lawful gun ownership by private individuals in this country,” 

and the fact that “virtually any semiautomatic weapon may be 

converted  *  *  *  into a machinegun” by internal modification 

or even wear and tear, reading Section 5861(d) to dispense with 

a mens rea requirement would “criminalize a broad range of 

apparently innocent conduct.”  Id. at 610-611, 614-616, 619 

(internal quotation marks omitted).  But as explained above, pp. 

15-18, supra, the concerns animating Staples have no force here 

because no similar concern about criminalizing otherwise 

innocent conduct arises when Congress penalizes the misuse of 

firearms in the course of violent or drug-related crimes.  Pet. 

App. 9a-12a, see also United States v. Brantley, 68 F.3d 1283, 

1290 (11th Cir. 1995) (“[U]nlike the [Section] 5861(d) context 
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[addressed in Staples], the risk of imposing punishment on an 

innocent actor is absent [under Section 924(c)].”), cert. 

denied, 517 U.S. 1111, and 516 U.S. 1136 (1996). 

Relatedly, petitioner’s amicus contends (Br. 15-19) that the 

severity of the minimum penalty prescribed by Section 

924(c)(1)(B)(ii) warrants engrafting a knowledge requirement 

onto the provision.  That contention is incorrect.  Although 

Staples adverted to the length of the sentence prescribed by 

Section 5861(d) as a factor supporting an implied mens rea 

requirement, this Court was clear that it was not adopting a 

“definitive rule of construction.”  511 U.S. at 618.  “Instead, 

we note only that where, as here, dispensing with mens rea would 

require the defendant to have knowledge only of traditionally 

lawful conduct, a severe penalty is a further factor tending to 

suggest that Congress did not intend to eliminate a mens rea 

requirement.”  Id. at 618-619.  Again, that does not describe 

the statute here because whether or not a Section 

924(c)(1)(B)(ii) defendant knows his firearm is a machinegun, he 

is “already guilty of unlawful conduct twice over: a violent or 

drug trafficking offense and the use, carrying, or possession of 

a firearm in the course of that offense.”  Dean, 556 U.S. at 

576. 

c. Petitioner (Pet. 11) and his amicus (Br. 11-12) also 

contend that the decision below conflicts with Flores-Figueroa 
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v. United States, 556 U.S. 646 (2009).  Flores-Figueroa 

interpreted the “[a]ggravated identity theft” statute, which 

provides for a mandatory consecutive two-year term of 

imprisonment for a defendant who, during or in relation to the 

commission of certain predicate offenses, “knowingly transfers, 

possesses, or uses, without lawful authority, a means of 

identification of another person.”  18 U.S.C. 1028A(a)(1) 

(emphasis added).  This Court held that Congress intended the 

statute to be given its “ordinary English” meaning, i.e., that 

the defendant must know the means of identification belongs to 

another person.  Flores-Figueroa, 556 U.S. at 650-653.  As the 

en banc court below recognized, Flores–Figueroa addressed a 

statutory construction issue not presented here, namely, “how 

far down the sentence the word ‘knowingly’ traveled.”  Pet. App. 

23a.  Because Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) “contains no ‘phrase 

.  .  .  that introduces the elements of [the] crime with the 

word “knowingly,”’” id. at 23a (quoting Flores–Figueroa, 556 

U.S. at 652), Flores–Figueroa is “inapt.”  id. at 29a. 

3. There is no conflict among the courts of appeals on 

the question presented.  Most recently, the Eleventh Circuit 

reaffirmed its holding that Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) “does not 

require proof of particularized knowledge of the weapon 

characteristics.”  Haile, 685 F.3d at 1218 (quoting United 

States v. Ciszkowski, 492 F.3d 1264, 1269 (11th Cir. 2007)).  
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Two other circuits have reached the same conclusion before this 

Court decided O’Brien.  See United States v. Gamboa, 439 F.3d 

796, 812 (8th Cir.), cert. denied, 549 U.S. 1042 (2006); United 

States v. Eads, 191 F.3d 1206, 1212-1214 (10th Cir. 1999), cert. 

denied, 530 U.S. 1231 (2000); see also United States v. Shea, 

150 F.3d 44, 52 (1st Cir.) (semiautomatic-assault-weapon 

provision in 18 U.S.C. 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) does not contain an 

implied knowledge requirement), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 1030 

(1998), abrogated on other grounds, United States v. Mojica-

Baez, 229 F.3d 292, 310 (1st Cir. 2000), cert. denied, 532 U.S. 

1065 (2001). 

Although petitioner alleges “considerable confusion” in the 

circuits (Pet. 7-8), none of the cases he cites conflicts with 

the decision below.  In United States v. Franklin, 321 F.3d 

1231, 1240, cert. denied, 540 U.S. 853 (2003), the Ninth Circuit 

rejected a sufficiency-of-the-evidence challenge to a conviction 

under Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii), assuming only for the sake of 

argument that the government was required to prove that the 

defendant knew the firearm in question was a machinegun.  The 

unpublished decision in United States v. Rodriguez, 54 Fed. 

Appx. 739, 747 (3d Cir. 2002), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1179 

(2003), made the same assumption.  See also United States v. 

Dixon, 273 F.3d 636, 640 (5th Cir. 2001) (assuming arguendo that 

enhanced penalty for carrying a short barreled shotgun required 
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proof that the defendant knew the nature of the gun), cert. 

denied, 537 U.S. 829 (2002).  Finally, United States v. 

Rivera-Rivera, 555 F.3d 277 (1st Cir.), cert. denied, 130 S. Ct. 

344 (2009), addressed a different provision of Section 924(c), 

so its observations about Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) are dicta.  

In a footnote, the Rivera-Rivera court stated that the court of 

appeals’ decision in United States v. O’Brien, 542 F.3d 921 (1st 

Cir. 2008) -- which this Court later reviewed -- “concluded that 

knowing possession of a machine gun is an element of the crime 

that must be proven to the jury.”  555 F.3d at 291 n.14.  That 

misdescribes the issues in O’Brien; in fact, the prosecutor in 

O’Brien had conceded (erroneously) that if the machinegun 

provision stated an element (rather than a sentencing factor), 

then the government would be required to prove the defendant’s 

knowledge.  See, e.g., Pet. at 8 & n.2, O’Brien, 130 S. Ct. 2169 

(No. 08-1569).  Accordingly, the First Circuit’s O’Brien 

decision considered only “whether  *  *  *  the nature of the 

weapon is to be found by the judge as a sentencing matter or by 

the jury as an element of the crime.”  542 F.3d at 922.  The 

erroneous footnote dictum in Rivera-Rivera does not create a 

conflict warranting this Court’s review. 

Petitioner (Pet. 8-9) and his amicus (Br. 6-8 & n.3) 

suggest that cases holding that the government is not required 

to prove that the defendant knew the firearm in question was a 
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machinegun rest on the premise (revealed by O’Brien to be 

erroneous) that the machinegun provision states a sentencing 

factor rather than an element of the offense.  But the 

distinction between sentencing factors and elements is not 

controlling on the question presented, which ultimately is one 

of Congress’s intent.  And in any event, few courts have 

addressed how O’Brien’s “elements” holding affects the separate 

knowledge-of-weapon-type issue because the decision in O’Brien 

is relatively recent.  That fact further counsels against this 

Court’s reviewing the issue now and in favor of allowing the 

courts of appeals to consider in the first instance whether 

O’Brien disturbs their conclusions that knowledge is not a 

requirement for conviction under Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii). 

4. In any event, this would be a poor vehicle for 

addressing the question petitioner presents because he failed to 

preserve his claim in the district court.  Disputes about 

statutory offense elements typically arise by way of either 

sufficiency-of-the-evidence or jury instruction challenges.  To 

the extent that petitioner is renewing his forfeited 

sufficiency-of-the-evidence claim, he could not prevail even if 

his interpretation of Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) were correct 

because the government produced sufficient evidence that 

petitioner knew he was carrying a machinegun.  And to the extent 

that petitioner seeks to challenge the Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) 
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instructions given at his trial, he has at a minimum forfeited 

any such claim by failing to object to those instructions in the 

district court or to challenge them on appeal. 

a. Petitioner did not argue in the district court that 

the government had presented insufficient evidence on the 

Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii) count.  Pet. C.A. En Banc Br. 14 

(conceding this point).  Accordingly, that claim, which was 

first raised in the defendants’ joint appellate brief to the 

panel of the court of appeals, could be reviewed for “plain 

error” only.  See Fed. R. Crim. P. 52(b). 

Both the panel and the en banc court below rejected 

petitioner’s forfeited sufficiency-of-the-evidence claim based 

on a legal analysis of Section 924(c)(1)(B)(ii).  Pet. App. 

119a-121a, id. at 6a-30a.  But as Judge Henderson’s concurring 

opinion makes clear, that analysis was unnecessary because the 

trial record contained sufficient (indeed, overwhelming) proof 

that petitioner knew he was carrying a machinegun during the 

Industrial Bank robbery.  Id. at 34a-35a.  That evidence showed, 

inter alia, that (1) petitioner asked to join in future 

robberies after the crew had used automatic weapons to spray 

bullets at a pursuing police car; (2) the two-handled AK-47 

petitioner held had a visible selector switch with three 

separate positions that allowed it to switch from safe to semi-

automatic to fully automatic mode; (3) the AK-47 had a 75 round 
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drum magazine, making its automatic potential “eye-popping”; (4) 

a bank manager with little knowledge of guns identified 

petitioner’s weapon as “a machine gun type of gun”; and (5) 

petitioner had recently perused gun-related literature.  Id. at 

34a-35a & n.3-4; Gov’t En Banc Br. 52-54.  That evidence was 

more than sufficient to uphold petitioner’s Section 

924(c)(1)(B)(ii) conviction under plain error (or ordinary) 

sufficiency review.  Compare Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 

319 (1979) (where a defendant has preserved a sufficiency-of-

the-evidence claim, court should ask whether any rational trier 

of fact could have found each element of the offense beyond a 

reasonable doubt), with Pet. App. 35a (Henderson, J., 

concurring) (jury “could not have avoided finding that 

[petitioner] knew the weapon was a machine gun”); see also 

Franklin, 321 F.3d at 1240 (evidence that defendant knew a 

firearm was a machinegun sufficient where, inter alia, “a 

‘detent’ on the outside of the [firearm] allows the user to set 

it in a fully automatic firing position”). Petitioner’s 

forfeited sufficiency-of-the-evidence challenge therefore does 

not provide an appropriate vehicle to address whether Section 

924(c)(1)(B)(ii) requires the “knowing” use, carrying, or 

possession of a machinegun. 

b. Petitioner also cannot test his legal theory through 

an instructional challenge because he at a minimum forfeited any 
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such challenge by failing to contest the Section 

924(c)(1)(B)(ii) jury charge at trial and by not raising an 

instructional error on appeal.  See Gov’t C.A. Br. 52 n.42; see 

also Clements v. Macheboeuf, 92 U.S. 418, 425 (1876) (“Matters 

not assigned for error will not be examined[.]”).2 

Although the court of appeals could have reviewed the 

district court’s instructions sua sponte under a plain-error 

standard of review, see, e.g., United States v. TDC Mgmt. Corp., 

288 F.3d 421, 425-427 (D.C. Cir.), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1048 

(2002), nothing suggests that it exercised such discretion here.  

See, e.g., Pet. App. 119a-121a (panel opinion considering only 

petitioner’s sufficiency-of-the-evidence claim); id. at 27a (en 

banc court reviewing petitioner’s statutory claim in the context 

of a sufficiency-of-the-evidence challenge).  This Court’s 

“traditional rule” “precludes a grant of certiorari” when “the 

                     
2 In dissent, Judge Kavanaugh expressed the view that a 

claim of instructional error was preserved when one of 
petitioner’s co-defendants unsuccessfully opposed the 
government’s motion to limit defense closing arguments.  Pet. 
App. 90a n.21  That conclusion is at odds with Federal Rule of 
Criminal Procedure 30(d), which provides that, to preserve a 
claim of instructional error, a party “must inform the court of 
the specific objection [to the court’s instructions] and the 
grounds for the objection before the jury retires to 
deliberate.”  In any event, petitioner’s separate failure to 
raise a claim of instructional error before the court of appeals 
panel should be regarded as a waiver of that claim.  See, e.g., 
Keating v. FERC, 927 F.2d 616, 625-626 (D.C. Cir. 1991) (per 
curiam) (refusing to entertain claim first raised in petition 
for rehearing). 
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question presented was not pressed or passed upon below.”  

United States v. Williams, 504 U.S. 36, 41 (1992) (citation 

omitted).  Even if the court of appeals had reviewed a claim of 

instructional error for plain error, reversal would have been 

unwarranted in light of the overwhelming evidence that 

petitioner knew the firearm in question was a machinegun.  Under 

those circumstances, a reviewing court would have “no basis for 

concluding,” as it must to reverse on plain-error review, “that 

the error seriously affect[ed] the fairness, integrity or public 

reputation of judicial proceedings.”  Johnson v. United States, 

520 U.S. 461, 470 (1997) (brackets in original) (internal 

quotation marks omitted). 

CONCLUSION 

 The petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.
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